SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC10-92

D. CT. NO.: 1D08-3398

TED WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

VS.

KEITH ROBINSON OKEN, M.D., and MAYO CLINIC OF FLORIDA, a Florida Corporation,

Respondents.	
	,

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BRUCE S. BULLOCK Bruce S. Bullock, P.A. 5515 Phillips Highway Suite Two Jacksonville, Florida 32207-7966 (904) 731-0535 Telephone (904) 731-0723 Facsimile Joel S. Perwin P.A. 169 East Flagler Street Suite 1422 Miami, Florida 33131-1212 (305) 779-6090 Telephone (305) 779-6095 Facsimile

By: Joel S. Perwin Fla. Bar No.: 316814

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This Appeal concerns the District Court's rejection of a pre-suit expert in a medical-malpractice case. Relying in part upon Internet sources, the District Court accepted the case on certiorari, and held, based on the Plaintiff's expert's Affidavits and resume alone, that a certified emergency-room specialist was not qualified to advance a pre-suit opinion about the actions of a cardiologist who was consulted while the patient was in the emergency room. Subsequently, the Second District Court has disagreed with that decision in Holden v. Bober, 2010 WL 2507279 (Fla. 2d DCA June 23, 2010) (which addressed the issue on plenary review after issuance of a final order), holding that an emergency-room specialist might be qualified to provide a pre-suit opinion concerning a neurologist who was consulted while the patient was in the emergency room, and remanding for reconsideration on a full record. The Court in Holden also disagreed with the District Court's "determination" in the instant case "based on independent information that was obtained outside of the court's appellate record." *Id.*

Many of the relevant facts are stated in the District Court's Opinion. The Plaintiff alleged that while he was in the emergency room at the Mayo Clinic of Florida complaining of chest pain in February of 2005, the emergency-room

treating doctor consulted with Defendant Dr. Keith Oken, a board-certified cardiologist, who allegedly was negligent in his diagnosis and treatment of the Plaintiff while in the emergency room (*see* Opinion at 2; App. 1). In support of his claim, the Plaintiff attached the Affidavit of Dr. John D. Foster, a board-certified emergency and family-medicine physician with extensive experience treating cardiac patients in the emergency room, thereby according him specialty in "the evaluation, diagnosis or treatment of acute chest pain and impending myocardial infarction" (Opinion at 3; *see* App. 2, Ex. 1). A second Affidavit by Dr. Foster attested to his experience in both diagnosing and treating the Plaintiff's condition (App. 3). The trial court denied the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss (App. 4).

_

¹"App" refers to the Appendix filed by the Defendants as Petitioners in the District Court.

The District Court accepted certiorari and quashed the trial court's order. The District Court's Opinion states that "[o]utside of a conclusory statement in the affidavit, there are no facts set out demonstrating how the general practice areas of family and emergency medicine are or could be a specialty similar to cardiology" (Opinion at 3-4). The District Court described Dr. Foster as a "generalist" or "evaluator" of heart-attack patients, without referring to the Record evidence (infra) of his diagnosis and treatment of patients like Mr. Williams over many years as an emergency medical specialist. See infra. Nor did the Court consider that emergency-room doctors necessarily treat their patients; it is an inherent part of their jobs. Nor did the Court acknowledge that central to the Plaintiff's claim is that Defendant Oken was negligent in his evaluation of the Plaintiff (see App. 1). The District Court held that as an "evaluator," Dr. Foster's "expertise [only] involves and concerns the initial evaluation of patients with suspected cardiac symptoms," Opinion at 18, and "[t]o allow . . . an emergency medical physician to testify against a cardiologist simply because such physicians evaluate patients with suspected cardiac problems would contradict the Legislature's clear intent" *Id.* at 14.

The District Court divined that intent from the 2003 amendment to \$766.102, Fla. Stat. Prior to the amendment, the Statute had permitted

corroboration by any health-care provider with sufficient training, experience or knowledge in the same or a related field of medicine that included the evaluation, diagnosis, or treatment of the medical condition, whether or not the expert was in a similar specialty. The 2003 amendment added the requirement of a similar specialty, *see* §766.102(5)(a)(1) (Opinion at 10-11).² The District Court noted that the phrase "similar specialty" "is not defined within the statutes. Case law also provides little useful guidance" (*id.* at 12). Without itself venturing a definition, as noted, the District Court found that Dr. Foster is a generalist who provides only evaluation, and that he does not practice in a similar specialty as the Defendant cardiologist. The District Court based this conclusion in part on Internet sources

²Under §766.102(5)(a) as amended, the expert witness must

^{1.} Specialize in the same specialty as the health care provider against whom or on whose behalf the testimony is offered; or specialize in a similar specialty that includes the evaluation, diagnosis, or treatment of the medical condition that is the subject of the claim and have prior experience treating similar patients; and

^{2.} Have devoted professional time during the 3 years immediately preceding the date of the occurrences that is the basis for the action to:

⁽a) The active clinical practice of, or consulting with respect to, the same or similar specialty that includes the evaluation, diagnosis, or treatment of the medical condition that is the subject of the claim and have prior experience treating similar patients[.]

not cited or considered in the trial court, but rather cited for the first time in the Defendants' Reply in Support of Certiorari in the District Court. These Internet sites list the sub-specialties associated with emergency medicine and cardiology (*see* Opinion at 14-17 & n.2). They do not discuss the practical experience of emergency-room doctors.

On that question, the District Court did not acknowledge the uncontradicted facts stated in Dr. Foster's two Affidavits and resume (App. 2, 3), concerning his actual treatment as well as evaluation of cardiac patients like Mr. Williams, as an emergency medical specialist over 20 years. His resume and first Affidavit state that Dr. Foster was engaged in the full time practice of emergency medicine, which obviously includes treatment as well as evaluation, as a board-certified specialist for 20 years (App. 2). The second Affidavit (App. 3) confirms that Dr. Foster specialized in "the treatment" of "acute chest pains and impending myocardial infarction," and had "prior experience" "treating patients similar to Ted Williams." Moreover, the Plaintiff's Complaint charges negligence in evaluation (App. 1). In the course of his treatment of patients with similar symptoms, Dr. Foster had "performed 15,000-20,000 evaluations of chest pain in an emergency room setting" (App. 3).

The District Court did not acknowledge or discuss any of this evidence. Although an emergency-room physician might not have analogous experience or expertise in evaluating or treating other kinds of conditions that present less frequently in the emergency room, Dr. Foster's 20 years of evaluating and treating 15,000-20,000 cases of chest pain in the emergency room evidenced his expertise in this particular area. Given that patients with heart attacks almost always have to go to an emergency room for initial treatment, the condition at issue here--cardiac ischemia and impending myocardial infarction--in the first instance is virtually always the province of emergency-room doctors, who both diagnose and treat.

III. ISSUES ON REVIEW

- A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED OR EXCEEDED ITS CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY IN REVIEWING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER ON CERTIORARI.
- B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE UNCONTRADICTED FACTS PROVIDED BY DR. FOSTER DID NOT SATISFY THE STATUTORY PRESUIT REQUIREMENTS FOR THE CORROBORATING AFFIDAVIT OF A MEDICAL EXPERT.
- C. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN SUPPORTING ITS DECISION BY REFERENCE TO INTERNET MATERIALS CITED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN THE RESPONDENT'S REPLY BRIEF IN THE DISTRICT COURT.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A Petitioner's attempt to demonstrate irreparable injury presents a jurisdictional issue reviewable *de novo*. *See Jaye v. Royal Saxon, Inc.*, 720 So. 2d 214, 215 (Fla. 1998). A trial court's asserted departure from the requirements of law presents a legal issue reviewable *de novo*. *See Haines City Community Development v. Heggs*, 658 So. 2d 523 (Fla. 1995); *Combs v. State*, 436 So. 2d 93, 96 (Fla. 1983). The propriety of considering factual material for the first time at the appellate level presents a *de novo* issue of law. *See, e.g., Hillsborough County Board of County Commissioners v. Public Employees Relations Comm'n*, 424 So. 2d 132 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court exceeded the proper bounds of certiorari in reviewing not the procedural aspects of the pre-suit investigation in this case, in order to assure ostensible compliance with statutory requirements, but rather the substance of the evidence presented by the Plaintiff in that investigation--specifically, the evidence regarding his expert's qualifications. The District Court's rationale for doing so-that "[f]iling an affidavit that is facially at odds with the statutory policy is tantamount to the filing of no affidavit" (Opinion at 9)--could apply to any asserted material departure from pre-suit requirements. This Court has made clear that the boundaries of certiorari do not extend to such substantive interlocutory review.

Respectfully, the District Court also was wrong on the merits in ruling on the pleadings and attachments alone (the Affidavits and resume) that an emergency-room doctor cannot be held to practice in a "similar specialty" as a cardiologist accused of mis-diagnosing and mis-treating a patient who was in the emergency room. The District Court's dismissal that Dr. Foster was only an "evaluator" (Opinion at 18) not only is incorrect, but fails to appreciate that Defendant Oken's mis-diagnosis is a critical claim in the Plaintiff's Complaint. Moreover, as Dr. Foster stated in his Affidavit, like any emergency-room doctor, he obviously treats as well as evaluates, and he has seen, diagnosed and treated patients with Plaintiff's Williams' condition for 20 years. As the Second District Court recently held in the Holden case, the District Court here was wrong to conclude on Dr. Foster's resume and Affidavits alone that an emergency-room doctor does not practice in a similar specialty as a cardiologist.

Finally, the District Court erred, and took a dangerous path, in reviewing and relying at least in part on Internet sources not cited or considered at the trial level, but rather cited for the first time in the Defendants' Reply in support of their

Petition for Writ of Certiorari. It did so not to explore questions of law or policy, but rather the critical factual issue on review--the expert's qualifications. Doing so not only violated the precepts of due process and fairness, and the rules of evidence, but was unfairly selective--research on only a very narrow aspect of this issue, while foreclosing any opportunity for the Plaintiff to counter with his own research on the broader aspects of an emergency-room practice. This question is increasingly the topic of discussion throughout the country, with a clear consensus that Internet materials, like any other evidence, are subject to the Rules of Evidence.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED OR EXCEEDED ITS CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY IN REVIEWING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER ON CERTIORARI.

The District Court's decision exceeds the proper scope of certiorari review, creating a new category of interlocutory appeal not authorized by Fla. R. App. P. 9.130. The District Court effectively (and erroneously) undertook plenary review of the sufficiency of the Plaintiff's compliance with the presuit requirements of Chapter 766. It re-evaluated the evidence presented, and ruled *de novo*, on the pleadings alone (meaning the expert's Affidavits and resume), and based in part on the District Court's Internet research, that Dr. Foster did not possess sufficient qualifications. This usurpation of the trial court's traditional function of gatekeeper (subject to plenary review) constituted an expansive use of commonlaw certiorari exceeding the pre-existing scope of the writ, as defined by this Court.

Under Rule 9.130, "[a]ppeals to the district courts of appeal of non-final orders are limited to those" specified. The purpose of the rule is "to restrict the number of appealable nonfinal orders." *Reeves v. Fleetwood Homes of Florida, Inc.*, 889 So. 2d 812, 819 (Fla. 2004). Orders denying motions to dismiss are not

on that list. Only in the rarest cases is certiorari available to review an order denying a motion to dismiss. *See Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1987). When this Court has permitted such review, it has been limited to protecting the context and conduct of trial-level decisions--not review of the merits of those decisions. It has been limited to scrutiny of the statutory procedures followed--not the sufficiency of the evidence. *See, e.g., Globe Newspaper Co. v. King*, 658 So. 2d 518 (Fla. 1995) (certiorari appropriate to insure proper procedure for moving to plead punitive damages, but not to review sufficiency of the evidence).

Only in that limited context have the District Courts accepted certiorari to review an order denying a motion to dismiss for failure to comply with medical-malpractice presuit requirements. One way or another, the prescribed procedures had not been followed in such cases. Some decisions involved plaintiffs who had failed entirely to perform any presuit investigation, contending that theirs were not medical-malpractice claims. *See, e.g., Tenet South Florida Health Systems v. Jackson,* 991 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008); *Corbo v. Garcia,* 949 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). Others involved plaintiffs who had failed entirely to comply with the statutory presuit procedure--for example, by not providing a presuit affidavit at all. *See Martin Memorial Medical Center v. Herber,* 984 So. 2d 661

(Fla. 4th DCA 2008); Central Florida Regional Hospital v. Hill, 721 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). None involved interlocutory review of a medical expert's qualifications, or the sufficiency of an expert affidavit, or of a plaintiff's investigation. These decisions, confirming the "extremely rare" propriety of certiorari in such circumstances, Advisory Committee Note, Rule 9.130, Fla. R. App. P., can only underscore the impropriety of certiorari in this case.

In *St. Mary's Hospital v. Bell*, 785 So. 2d 1261, 1262 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), the Court held that certiorari was not appropriate to evaluate the sufficiency of the evidence presented by the plaintiff in compliance with presuit procedures:

Certiorari may lie from orders denying motions to dismiss for failure to comply with the presuit requirements of chapter 766 in medical malpractice actions. . . . However, certiorari does not lie for appellate courts to reweigh the evidence presented concerning compliance with the presuit statutory requirements. . . .

* * *

[C]ertiorari is available to review whether a trial judge followed chapter 766 and whether a plaintiff complied with presuit notice and investigation requirements; certiorari is not so broad as to encompass review of the evidence regarding the sufficiency of counsel's presuit investigation.

The First District Court itself reached a similar conclusion in *Abbey v*.

Patrick, 16 So. 3d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009), declining to review an order "entered in the course of the medical malpractice presuit screening procedure," which denied summary judgment based on the medical-malpractice statute of limitations--specifically, the tolling provisions of §766.106(4), Fla. Stat. The District Court in *Abbey* cited *St. Mary's* in holding that "certiorari may lie to ensure that a defendant is afforded the presuit screening procedure, but not to review all of the decisions in the course of executing the procedure" *Id.* at 1055. It said that "certiorari may be an appropriate remedy if the error is one that resulted in the deprivation of the right to the process itself," but it "should never be used to circumvent the rules governing appeals from pretrial orders." *Id.* at 1054, 1053.

The Court in *Abbey* reviewed the cases in which certiorari was appropriate to consider orders concerning medical-malpractice presuit screening, noting that "[t]he common thread running through these cases is that they all involve errors that were so serious that they effectively deprived the doctor or health care provider of the right to have the plaintiff's claim of negligence evaluated before trial." *Id.* at 1054. The Court continued: "Of course, this does not mean that every decision that is made in the course of executing the presuit screening process is reviewable by

certiorari. It is not likely that certiorari would be appropriate if the trial judge has afforded the defendant the statutory procedure but has merely made a mistake of law or fact in the course of carrying it out." *Id.* at 1055. Citing *Globe Newspaper Co. v. King*, 658 So. 2d 518 (Fla. 1995) (punitive damages), the Court in *Abbey* concluded, 16 So. 3d at 1055:

If the error results in a deprivation of the presuit screening process guaranteed by the statute, it is not one that can be corrected on appeal. . . . But the justification for issuing a writ of certiorari is diminished greatly if the parties have been afforded the essential process guaranteed by law and the judge has merely made a mistake in an order or ruling entered in the course of the proceeding. In that event, the relief afforded by an appeal from the final judgment will be adequate, and certiorari will not lie even if the error is one that amounts to a departure from the essential requirements of law.

Thus the Court held in *Abbey* that certiorari was unjustified in two ways. First, the trial court had given the petitioner the process he was entitled to under the presuit screening statute. The Petitioner was not deprived of "the right to the process itself." 16 So. 3d at 1054. Second, regardless of the correctness of the trial court's ruling, it was not a violation of a clearly established legal principle that had resulted in a miscarriage of justice.

The District Court in the instant case exceeded the established parameters of certiorari enforced in *Abbey* and *St. Mary's*. The Court frankly acknowledged that it was reviewing "the trial court's legal determination concerning the sufficiency of

the corroborating affidavit." Opinion at 8. It necessarily concluded that the trial court's construction and application of the Statute were erroneous. In contrast, *Abbey* and *St. Mary's* found that the only kind of presuit screening orders appropriate for certiorari alleged errors so serious that they deprived the doctor of the right to have the negligence claim evaluated at all.

Without citing *Abbey*, the District Court attempted to distinguish decisions involving statutes of limitations on the ground that they dealt with an issue of "general" applicability, as opposed to an issue limited to medical-malpractice actions. Opinion at 7-8. But as the dissent pointed out (Opinion at 24), the Statute at issue in *Abbey*--§766.106(4) (statute of limitations)--like the Statute at issue here, applies only to medical-malpractice actions.

The District Court attempted to distinguish *St. Mary's* on the ground that it concerned the propriety of certiorari "to review [the] sufficiency of the evidence presented at an evidentiary hearing to determine the reasonableness of counsel's presuit investigation" (Opinion at 8). It said that in contrast to *St. Mary's* (again, not citing *Abbey*), the District Court here was not reviewing the Plaintiff's evidence, but

the sufficiency of the corroborating affidavit, which goes to the very core of the presuit notice requirement in medical malpractice actions--that there has been a review and a determination by a physician in the same or similar specialty of the malpractice claim (more thoroughly discussed herein). Allowing a corroborating affidavit to be filed by a physician who is only a generalist rather than one in the same or similar specialty to the defendant effectively deprives a malpractice defendant of the statutorily mandated process. Filing an affidavit that is facially at odds with the statutory policy is tantamount to the filing of no affidavit.

Opinion at 8-9.

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