IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

TED WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. SC10-92 DCA Case No. 1D08-3398 L.T. Case No. 1D09-3258

KEITH ROBINSON OKEN, M.D., and MAYO CLINIC OF FLORIDA, a Florida Corporation,

Respondents.

/

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review From A Decision Of The First District Court Of Appeal

KATHERINE E. GIDDINGS (0949396) **AKERMAN SENTERFITT**

106 East College Avenue, Suite 1200 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 Telephone: (850) 425-1626 Telecopier: (850) 325-2526 E-mail: katherine.giddings@akerman.com

MARJORIE C. ALLEN (967513) MAYO CLINIC

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

By the very nature of their practice, emergency department physicians are trained to respond to emergencies and know when a specialty consult is required as was done here. Although they may, over the course of their career, see thousands of patients with chest pain, it is simply a matter of common sense that they are not specialists in the field of cardiology—they <u>only</u> see patients who complaint of chest pain in the emergency department. At the moment the emergency department physician suspects that a complaint of chest pain may be due to a cardiac condition, the standard of care requires that the emergency department physician consult a cardiologist.

In addition, emergency department physicians are not, as here, called in to provide specialized consultation in a particular area of medicine and continue treatment <u>after</u> the patient has been released from the emergency department.
Thus, if Plaintiff in this case had alleged negligence by the emergency department physician who initially assessed Plaintiff, Plaintiff's expert would have to be an emergency department physician even though the condition at issue is a But Plaintiff did not allege negligence against the myocardial infarction. emergency department physician. Plaintiff concedes that the emergency department physician-after assessing Plaintiff on an emergency basis-acted appropriately in calling in Dr. Oken for a subsequent cardiac consult and follow-up care. Dr. Oken then assessed and treated Plaintiff both in the emergency room as well as on the next day after Plaintiff was released from the emergency room. The applicable prevailing professional standard of care in this case is not the standard of care applicable to an emergency department physician; it is the standard of care applicable to a cardiologist, and the medical expert must be a specialist in cardiology or a similar specialty.

Plaintiff places significant emphasis on *Holden v. Bober*, 39 So. 3d 396 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010). That decision, which was issued after the decision under review here, has become final and the parties in that case did not seek review in this Court. In *Holden*, the Second District held that the trial court erred in dismissing the case without first determining whether the plaintiff had complied with the "reasonable presuit investigation requirements of chapter 766." *Id.* at 398. The plaintiff in that suit presented himself at the emergency department after he suffered an acute

ischemic stroke. Subsequently, plaintiff filed suit against several physicians who treated him in the emergency department, including Dr. Qin Gu, a neurologist. Notably, unlike here, no allegation exists that Dr. Gu treated the plaintiff <u>after</u> he was released from the emergency department. Plaintiff subsequently filed suit against Dr. Gu and others. *Id*.

Dr. Gu moved to dismiss the lawsuit asserting that the expert's presuit corroborating affidavit was facially insufficient because the expert incorrectly identified Dr. Gu as an emergency department physician rather than a neurologist and only provided the applicable standard of care for emergency department physicians. The trial court granted the motion to dismiss. *Id*.

On appeal, the defendants argued the case was properly dismissed because an emergency department physician is not a specialist in the field of neurology. In rejecting this argument, the Second District stated: "[Defendants'] assertions as to [the emergency department expert's] qualifications are mere inconsistencies in the corroborating affidavit that cannot be resolved in [defendants'] favor from either the face of the record or under the reasonableness requirements of chapter 766." *Id.* at *5. In addition, the court stated: "[I]n contrast to *Oken*, we can envision a scenario where an emergency department physician could be considered an expert witness specializing in a 'similar specialty' to that of a specialist treating a patient in an emergency department capacity." *Id.* The court further held that an evidentiary hearing was required to determine whether an emergency department physician could testify against a specialist in neurology. *Id.* at *6.

Because the defendants in *Holden* did not seek review in this Court, it is impossible to know what qualifications were set forth in the medical expert's affidavit in that case and constituted "mere inconsistencies." What is clear is that Dr. Foster's qualifications <u>were</u> set forth in the opinion at issue, establishing that an evidentiary hearing was not required to determine Dr. Foster did not meet section 766.102(5)(a)'s requirements. Accordingly, no conflict exists with *Holden* given these factual distinctions.

Moreover, even if *Holden* could be read to conflict with the instant decision, the *Holden* decision was wrongly decided. As discussed extensively above, the type of services rendered is not the issue. The issue is whether the proposed medical expert's specialty is the same or similar to the defendant's specialty. The prevailing professional standard of care for a generalist or emergency department physician will necessarily be different from the prevailing professional standard of care for a specialist—even if they are both evaluating and treating the same condition. The Legislature has specifically mandated that only like specialists can serve as medical experts in evaluating the actions of other specialists. The standard of care applied to the defendant is not the standard of care applied to all doctors generally; it is the standard of care "for that health care provider." § 766.102(1) (emphasis added). It is the standard recognized as "acceptable and appropriate by reasonably prudent <u>similar health care providers</u>." *Id.* (emphasis added). Any contrary holding would eviscerate the public policy underlying the Legislature's 2003 amendments to chapter 766, which require the merits of medical negligence cases to be evaluated <u>before</u> healthcare providers are forced to defend against unwarranted lawsuits. It also would elevate emergency medicine physicians and other generalists to the level of an expert not only in their own field of medicine but in every field and specialty.

3. <u>The First District did not "overlook" section 766.102(12)</u>—Plaintiff never argued the applicability of that statute and is barred from doing so now.

Plaintiff argues that the "alternative qualifying language" in section 766.102(12) permits a judge to qualify a medical expert on whatever grounds the judge sees fit. Plaintiff never asked the trial court to qualify his expert on this basis and never raised the issue in his briefs or at oral argument before the First District. Nor was it raised in the *Oken* majority or dissenting opinions. Arguments not raised by counsel, whether intentionally or unintentionally, are deemed waived or abandoned on appeal. *Bd. of Regents v. Athey*, 694 So. 2d 46, 51 n.2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); *Polyglycoat Corp. v. Hirsch Distribs., Inc.*, 442 So. 2d 958, 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

Further, the trial court did not rely on section 766.102(12) in reaching its ruling; its application is irrelevant, and Plaintiff reads this provision too broadly.

Given the Legislature's 2003 explicit narrowing of who may testify against whom, section 766.102(12) can only mean that, where a physician has extraordinary qualifications sufficient to render the physician a medical expert, the trial court may allow such an expert to testify. Dr. Foster did not aver that he possessed any such extraordinary qualifications for this case, and it would have been an abuse of discretion for the trial court to have relied on section 766.102(12) to find that Dr. Foster could serve as a medical expert in this case. Reading section 766.102(12) as Plaintiff suggests would expand rather than restrict who may testify as a corroborating expert, contrary to the evident intent of the Legislature.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CITED TO INTERNET DEFINITIONS AND SPECIFICALLY NOTED THAT THOSE CITATIONS WERE NOT THE BASIS FOR ITS DECISION.

Standard of Review.

Although interpretation of a statute is subject to *de novo* review, in ascertaining the meaning of a statutory term, courts have discretion to look to sources containing the ordinary meaning of those terms. *See, e.g., Sanders v. State,* 35 So. 3d 864 (Fla. 2010); *Grohs v. State,* 944 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006). Thus, the First District's use of commonly known definitions for the specialties at issue, taken from the medical associations' official websites, is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard.

33

Argument.

1. <u>No conflict exists with *Campbell*.</u>

To the extent this Court exercised its discretionary jurisdiction in this case on asserted conflict with Campbell v. State, 949 So. 2d 1093, jurisdiction was improvidently granted. The First District's use of official website definitions does not establish conflict with *Campbell*, *Holden*, or any other case. *Campbell* had nothing to do with the use of definitions in construing statutes. It held that a nonself-authenticating computer printout regarding the defendant could not be considered absent authentication by a records custodian. 949 So. 2d at 1094. Although the Second District in Holden-issued after this Court accepted jurisdiction in this case-criticized the First District's reference to the internet definitions, *Holden* did not address Plaintiff's waiver of any objection to the use of those definitions or the fact Dr. Foster himself referenced the certifying organizations in attempting to show he was qualified. As explained hereinafter, the First District properly cited to the internet definitions here, and no conflict exists with any case based on the narrow factual circumstances in which this issue was presented.

2. <u>The First District's use of internet definitions was proper</u>.

The Plaintiff had the burden to prove Dr. Foster specialized in a specialty "similar to" cardiology. Dr. Foster's affidavit was facially insufficient to establish any such specialization. As the First District stated: "Outside of a conclusory statement in the affidavit, there are no facts set out demonstrating how the general practice areas of family and emergency medicine are or could be a specialty similar to cardiology." *Oken*, 23 So. 3d at 142. Thus, the First District found Plaintiff failed to carry his burden of proof that his expert was qualified. To illustrate this point, the First District cited to internet definitions of the practice areas at issue, which established the distinctions between the specialties of emergency and family medicine and cardiology—but, as the First District itself concluded, its citation to those definitions was irrelevant to the outcome of this case: "[T]he result would not have been any different without the internet citations." *Id.* at 148 n.2.

Second, despite ample opportunity, Plaintiff never objected to Defendants' citation to the internet definitions, which were included in the Defendants' reply brief. Plaintiff never moved to strike that brief, and Plaintiff made no objection to those definitions at oral argument. Contrary to Plaintiff's characterization, the issue here is not one of due process. Plaintiff had numerous opportunities to challenge the definitions at issue but failed to do so. As the First District held, Plaintiff waived the right to contest the use of such citations because he "neither moved to strike nor raised any objection to the use of the citations." *Id.*

Third, contrary to Plaintiff's contentions, the First District's citations to official definitions of specific medical specialties in this case are not evidence. The First District simply applied long-established principles of statutory construction to define the term "similar specialty," which is undefined in the statute. Obviously, the court could have referenced a dictionary to define this term. Barco v. School Bd. of Pinellas County, 975 So. 2d 1116, 1122 (Fla. 2008). When, as here, a dictionary definition cannot be found, a court can look to other reliable sources to define the statutory term. "The use of generally-known knowledge . . . which is capable of accurate and ready determination from sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned" is appropriate. Oken, 23 So. 2d at 148 n.2 (citing Elizabeth G. Thornburg, The Curious Appellate Judge: Ethical Limits on Independent Research, 28 Rev. Litig. 131 (Fall 2008)). See, e.g., IMC Phosphates Co. v. Prater, 895 So. 2d 1263, 1270 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) (using medical dictionary to define term and affirm ALJ's finding of fact); State v. Campbell, 664 So. 2d 1085, 1087-88 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (granting certiorari and quashing order determining statute was unconstitutionally vague due to definitional defect; appeals court used medical dictionaries, reference materials, and case law to apply constitutional interpretation to applicable statute).

Looking to other sources is exactly what this Court did in *Reform Party of Florida v. Black*, 885 So. 2d 303 (Fla. 2004)—under statutory construction circumstances almost identical to those at issue here. In *Black*, this Court addressed whether a candidate was qualified under section 103.021(4)(a) by

claiming to be a "minor political party that is affiliated with a <u>national party</u> holding a national convention to nominate candidates for President and Vice President." *Id.* at 311 (emphasis added). The Court stated that the issue of qualification turned on the definition of the term "national party." Neither the statute nor the dictionary defined the term. This Court held that, in the absence of any such authority, it could properly rely on textbooks and legal authority from other jurisdictions to define the term. *Id.* at 312-13. The Court emphasized that its inquiry did not involve a factual determination based on evidence; rather, defining the term was a legal determination. *Id.* at 311.

Just as in *Black*, the term "similar specialty" is not defined in Chapter 766. Plaintiff's physician, Dr. Foster, submitted an affidavit claiming he specialized in a "similar specialty" as that term is used in the statute. Dr. Foster based this claim in part on his certification as a board certified specialist in emergency and family medicine and—<u>it was Dr. Foster himself who referenced the "certifying organizations" in support of his credentials</u>. The First District simply stated— <u>based on the very information Dr. Foster provided in his own affidavit</u>—that the definitions for the specialties provided by those organizations did not support his claimed specialization. *Oken*, 23 So. 3d at 148-50. No analytical distinction exists between the use of a dictionary or treatise (in hard copy or online) and the use of an organization's official internet website to define a term, especially when an individual—like Dr. Foster here—has relied on that organization in defining his own credentials.

Moreover, on facts strikingly similar to those at issue here, in J.B. v. Sacred Heart Hospital of Pensacola, 635 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 1994), this Court relied on dictionary definitions to decide whether certain alleged conduct constituted a medical negligence claim subject to the presuit screening requirements. In that case, this Court referred to Websters' Third International Dictionary's definitions for the terms "diagnosis," "treatment," and "care," to determine whether the alleged conduct arose out of any "medical, dental, or surgical diagnosis, treatment or care" as those terms were used in the statute. Id. at 948. Just as this Court did in J.B., here the First District referenced the certifying organizations' definitions of the specialties and general practices at issue in looking at whether Dr. Foster, as an emergency department physician, practiced in a specialty similar to Dr. Oken's specialty, which is cardiology. Under the facts of this case, the First District's use of internet definitions was proper.

CONCLUSION

Because the First District's decision does not expressly and directly conflict with either *St. Mary's* or *Campbell*, this Court should dismiss this case, holding that jurisdiction was improvidently granted. Alternatively, this Court should approve the First District's decision and hold that (1) the First District properly exercised its certiorari jurisdiction to review whether, as a matter of law, Plaintiff's emergency and family medicine physician specialized in a specialty similar to cardiology; (2) the First District properly found that an emergency and family medicine physician does not specialize in a specialty similar to cardiology; and (3) the First District did not err in quoting definitions of the various medical specialties from the medical certification internet websites.